
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
DEPARTMENT OF STATE ~U ! ~ f~f1~ -L: Ar'i! 1-: · ! 

BEFORE THE STATE BOARD OF OSTEOPATIDC MEDICO~~E 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 
Bureau of Professional and 
Occupational Affairs 

vs. 

Domenick Braccia, D.O., 
Respondent 

I 

~- - "' ":. . ·:· 

Case No. 17-53-05422 

ORDER OF TEMPORARY SUSPENSION AND NOTICE OF HEARING 

-?cJ 
AND NOW, this-~~- day of 2019, upon review of the Petition for 

Temporary Suspension of the license to practice as an. osteopathic physician & surgeon held by 

Domenick Braccia, D.O. (hereinafter "Respondent"), license number OS006737L, filed by the 

Prosecuting Attorney for the Commonwealth of iennsylvania, the State Board· of Osteopathic 

Medicine (hereinafter "Board'') makes the following findings and enters the following Order: 

SUSPENSION ORDER 

The Board fmds the Prosecuting Attorney has alleged facts in the Petition, which, if taken 

as true, establish at each and every count that the Respondent's continued practice as an osteopathic 

physician & surgeon within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania~ along with the exercise of .any 

other licenses, registrations, certificates, approvals, authorizations, or permits (hereinafter reforred 

to collectively as ' 'authorizations to practice the profession") issued by the Board, makes 

Respondent an immediate and clear danger to the public health and safety. Therefore in 

accordance with Section 14(a) of the Osteopathic Medical Practice Act, act of October 5, 1978, 

P.L. 1109, No. 261, ("Act"), 63 P.S. § 271.14(a), the Board ORDERS that the license to practice 

as an osteopathic physician & surgeon issued to the Resp~ndent, license number 0800673 7L, 

along with any other authorizations to practice the profession issued by the Board to Respondent, 



are TEMPORARILY SUSPENDED upon the service ofthis Order. Respondent shall surrender 

his wall certificate(s), biennial. renewal certificate(s) and wallet card(s) (or notarized affidavit of 

their loss or destruction) to representatives of the Bureau of Enforcement and Investigation or the 

Bureau of Professional and Occupational Affairs, iinmediately upon service of this Order in 

accordance with Section 14.2 ofthe Act, 63 P.S. § 271.14b. 

PRELIMINARY HEARING 

A preliminary hearing shall be scheduled and conducted by the Board or Office of Hearing 

Examiners to be convened within thirty (30) days from the date of issuance of this Order. The 

preliminary hearing shall be limited to evidence on the issue ofwhetherthere is aprimafacie case 

to support the temporary suspension of the Respondent's license and other authorizations to 

practice the profession issued by the Board. The preliminary hearing will be held at a location 

designated by the Board or a hearing examiner for the Board. 

The Respondent is entitled to be present at the preliminary hearing and may be represented 

by an attorney, cross-examine witnesses, inspect physical_evidence, call witnesses, offer evidence 

and testimony and make a record ofthe proceedings. 

Ifthe Board or hearing examinedinds a prima facie case is not established, Respondent's 

license and other authorizations to practice the profession issued by the Board will be immediately 

restored. If a prima facie case is established, the temporary suspension shall remain in effect until 

vacated by the Board, but in no event.longer than 180 days, unless otherwise ordered or agreed to 

by the participants. 

ADDITIONAL FORMAL ACTION 

In addition to this temporary suspension proceeding, the prosecuting attorney will 

commence a separate action to suspend, revoke or otherwise restrict Respondent's license arid 
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other authorizations to practice the profession issued by the.Board through the filing of a charging 

document, an Order to Show Cause. The Order to Show Cause may include, but not be limited to, 

the facts which were alleged in the Petition for Irhmediate Temporary Suspension. Any Order to 

Show Cause filed by the prosecuting attorney will be served upon the Respondent and the Order 

will direct Respondent to reply to the charges in a written answer within twenty (20) days of the 

issuance of the Order to Show Cau,se. A formal hearing on that Order to Show Cause will then be 

scheduled and conducted by the Board or the Hearing Examiner for the Board. 

PROCEDURES 

Continuances will be granted for good cause only. A request for a continuance must be 

filed with the Prothonotary, in writing, at least ()ne (1) week prior· to the date of the hearing. The 

requirement of the one(l) week advance filing of a request for continuance will be waived only 

upon a showing of good cause. The failure to have an attorney present and a requ.est for 

continuance to retain an attorney will not be considered a valid reason for the granting of a 

continuance on the day of the hearing. A request by th~ Respondent for an extension of time 

or a cont.inuance which will delay the preliminary hearing or the formal hearing must be 

accompanied by the agreement of the Respondent that the 180-day tempQrary suspension 

will continue during whatever additional time is necessary to conclude the proceedings. 

All proceedings are conducted in accordance with the Administrative Agency Law, 2 

Pa.C.S. §§ 501~508, 701-704; Act of July 2, 1993, P.L. 345, No. 48 ("ACT 48"), 63 P.S. §§ 

2201-2207, as amended; and the General Rules of Administrative Practice and Procedure, 1 Pa. 

Code§§ 31.1-35.251. A record of the hearing will be stenographically prepared by an official 
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·reporting service. A copy of the transcript may be secured by personally making arrangements 

with the reporting service at the time of the hearing. 

Any document submitted in this matter must be filed with: 

Prothonotary 
Pennsylvania Department of State 
2601 North Third Street 
P.O. Box 2649 
Ramsburg, PA 17105 
717-772-2686 

Also, you must send a separate copy of any documents submitted in this matter to the 

prosecuting attorney named below at: 

Keith E. Bashore, Prosecuting Attorney 
Pennsylvania Department of State 
P.O. Box 69521 
Harrisburg, P A 17106-9521 
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Burloli T. Mark, 
·D.O. 

Committee Member 

Johli B. Bulger; 
D.O. 

Co~ Member 

Board Counsel: 

For the Commonwealth; 

Respondent 

Cue No. 

Date: 

BY ORDER: . 
BEFOJJE THE STATE BOARD OF 
OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINEPROBA.BLE 
CA.USB SCREENING PANEL 

Kerry Maioney (A-L) or Kenneth 1. Suter (M-Z) 

Keith E; Bashore, ProsecutiDg Attorney 
.Pennsylvania Department of State 
·P.O. Box 69521 
Harrisburg~ PA 17106-9521 

Domenick: Bmecia, D.O. 
1630 White OakRd 
P~e,PA 1~944 

17-53·05422 

o'{frfl 41 

s 



Burton T. Mark, 
·D.O. 

COmmittee Member 

John B. Bulger, 
D.O. 

Committee Member 

Board Counsel: 

For the Commonwealth; 

Respondent: 

Case No. 

Date: 

: .. .. . .. ~· 

BY ORDER: 
BEFORE THE STATE BOARD OF 
OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE PROBABLE 
C4USE SCREENING PANEL 

Kerry Maloney (A~L) or kenneth J. Suter (M-Z) 

Keith E. Bashore, Prosecuting Attorney 
.Pennsylvania Department of State 
P.O. Box 69521 
Han'isburg, PA 17106-9521 

DomenickB~D.O. 
1630 White Oak Rd 
Perkasie, PA 1~944 

17-53-05422 

O~{LNI\f 
j 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
DEPARTMENT OF STATE ~[;~ , .. ""L.j t.:: 

BEFORE THE STATE BOARD OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 
Bureau of Professional and. 
Occupational Affairs 

vs~ 

Domenick Braccia, D.O., 
Respondent 

I 

1 
Case No. 17-53-05422 

PETITION FOR IMMEDIATE TEMPORARY SUSPENSION 

AND NOW, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Bureau of Professional and 

Occupational Affairs, by and through its Prosecuting Attorney, Keith .E. Bashore, petitions the 

State Board of Osteopathic Medicine (hereinafter "Board") for the immediate temporary 

suspension of the license to practice as an osteopathic physician & surgeon issued to Domenick 

Braccia, D.O. (hereinafter . "Respondent"), along with any other licenses, registrations, 

certificates, approvals, authorizations, or permits (hereinafter referred to collectively as 

"authorizations to practice. the profession") issued by the Board to Re~pondent at the time · this 

Petition is Granted, pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Osteopathic Medical Practice Act, act of 

October 5, 1978, P.L. 1109, No. 261,.(''Act") as amended, (hereinafter "Act"); 63 P.S. § 271.14(a), 

and in support thereof alleges as follows: 

1. Petitioner is a Prosecuting Attorney for the Bureau of Professional and Occupational 

Affairs, a departmental administrative agency within the Pennsylvania Department of State. 

· 2. Respondent holds . the following license to practice as an osteopathic physician & 

surgeon in the Commonwealth ofPennsylvania: license no. OS006737L. 
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3. Respondent's license was originally issued ori February 21, 1989, is current through 

October 31, 2020, and, absent further Board action, may be renewed, reactivated or reinstated 

thereafter upon the filing of the appropriate documentation and payment of the necessary fees. 

4. At all times pertinent to the Factual Allegations, Respondent held a license to practice 

as an osteopathic physician & surgeon in the Cominonwealth of Pennsylvania. 
. . 

5. Respondent's last known address on file with the Board is: 1630 White Oak Road, 

Perkasie, P A 18944. 

COUNT ONE 

6. Paragraphs 1 through 5 are incorporated by reference. 

7. On or about March 22,2019, Special Agents Eric Norman and Douglas Hilyard of 

. the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General filed a Police Criminal Complaint and Affidavit of 

Probable Cause in the matter of Commonwealth ofPennsylvimia v. Dr. DominickBraccia in 

Magisterial District Court No. 07-1-11 in Morrisville, P A. 

8. A true and correct copy of the Police criminal Complaint and Affidavit of Probable 

Cause referenced in paragraph 7 is attached and incorporated as Exhibit 1. 

9. Aimotated in paragraph B of the Affidavit of Probable Cause referenced in paragraph 

7 is the following: "Your Affiants have been conducting a criniinal investigation into violations 

of the criminal laws of the Commonwealth ofPennsylvania. This investigation has used the 

resources of the Forty-First Statewide Investigating Grand Jury. On March 11, 2019, the Forty-

First Statewide Investigating Grand Jury issued Presentment Number 32. On March 12, 2019 the 

Honorable Lillian Harris Ransom, Supervising Judge, entered a court order accepting the Grand 

Jury's recommendation of charges and findings. The Presentment, attached and herein 

incorporated by reference, recommends that the Attorney General of Pennsylvania or ·his 
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designee file the charges specified in this criminal complaint and Presentment Number 32 

against the following individuals and corporations:". 

10. Attached as Exhibit A to the Affidavit of Probable Cause referenced in paragraph 7 is 

Presentment No. 32 ("Presentment") issued by the Forty-First Statewide Investigating Grand 

Jury, as referenced in paragraph 9. 

11. Annotated on page l of the Presentment is the following: "The Grand Jury conducted 

an investigation into allegations that Liberation Way, LLC ('Liberation Way'), a company 

having a principal place of business in Yardley, Bucks County, generated millions of dollars in 

profits by exploiting individuals with drug and alcohol dependencies as tools to defraud 

insurance companies. From 2015 through 2018, Liberation Way and its holding company, 

Liberation Behavioral Health, LLC, ('Liberation Behavioral'), along with Liberation Way's 

founding members, various employees and investors, illegally secured and paid the premiums for 

their patients' insurance policies so that they could then bill insurance companies for treatments 

that were sub-standard, not provided, or medically unnecessary." 

12. Annotated on page 3 of the Presentment is the following: "The Grand Jury learned 

that 'DDAP' is the state oversight entity for drug and alcohol treatment programs in 

Pennsylvania. In order for a drug and alcohol rehabilitation facility to operate in Pennsylvania, it 

must first apply for, and obtain a license through, the DDAP. The Grand Jury heard testimony 

from Wenona Wake ('Wake'), the Bureau Director for Quality Assurance fot Prevention and 

Treatment for the DDAP." 

13. Annotated on page 4 of the Presentment is the following: "Domenick Braccia, M.D. 

('Dr. Braccia') was listed as the Medical Director on Liberation Way's application. Wake 

explained that, as Medical Director, it would be Dr. Braccia's responsibility to oversee all of the 
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medical activities, including the dispensing of narcotic medications. Further, as Medical 

Director, Dr. Braccia would be the individual who would approve the ordering of medication and 

·determine appropriate dosage requirements for a patient." 

14. Page 11 of the Presentment references testimony to the Grand Jury by Tommy 

Markov ('Markov'), a former patient at Liberation Way. 

15. Annotated on page 15 of the Presentment is the following: "SA Norman testified that 

the addresses commonly listed on the applications for insurance were the residential locations 

affiliated with Liberation Way. The Gran~ Jury learned that these residential locations were 

operating as sober homes but were not licens~d through the Department of State or the DDAP. 

SA Norman further testified that one location-- 1146 Stump Road in North Wales, Montgomery 

County ~ - was initially owned by Dr. Braccia. This address was included on more than 10 

insurance applications." 

16. Annotated on page 15 of the Presentment is the following: ''During his testimony, 

Markov stated that he never had the option of choosing where he could live and was initially 

placed.at the North Wales residence. He testified that there was minimal supervision at the 

house and that patients referred to it as the 'party house'. Markov asked to be moved to another 

housing location because he was actively trying to get better and did not want to be tempted to 
. . 

relapse." 

17. -Annotated on page 17 of the Presentment is the following: "Moreover, it was revealed 

that Liberation Way housing staff and employees were having sexual relationships with patients 

who .were actively receiving treatment." 

18. Annotated on page 18 of the Presentment is the following: "The Grancl Jury also 

heard testimony that Liberation Way cycled patients through the treatment process as many 
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times as possible. SA Norman stated that his. investigation revealed that some patients were 

cycled through treatment at Liberation Way up to eight times." 

19. Annotated on page 21 of the Presentment is the following: "The Grand Jury learned 

through the testimony of Dr. Braccia and other witnesses that urine tests were ordered without 

Dr~ Braccia performing any evaluation of the patients. The Liberation Way employees had 

access to blank forms~ which were pre-signed by Dr. Braccia." 

20. Annotated on page 21 of the Presentment is the following: "Former patients and 

employees testified that the results of the patients' urine tests were not discussed with them." 

21. Annotated on page 24 of the Presentment is the following: "SA Norman testified that 

Stephen Thomas, M.D. ('Dr. Thomas'), an expert in drug addiction and pain management, 

reviewed some ofthe records and claim notes pertaining to patients who attended Liberation 

Way." 

22. Annotated on page 24 of the Presentment is the following: "Dr. Thomas' report noted 

that federal guidelines specify that, while in treatment, drug screenings should be obtained at the 

outset oftreatme~t and at least eight times yearly or once every six weeks." 

23. Annotated on page 25 of the Presentment is the following: "In his review of the 

various patient records, Dr. Thomas observed that there was an absence of a history and physical 

examination which would normally be completed at thetime ofadmission." 

24. Annotated on page 25 of the Presentment is the following: "Dr. Thomas' report stated 

that the results ofthe screening should have been added into the patient's profile within their 

records in order to further ~ai~or the patient's treatment plan. Dr. Thomas found that there was 

no evidence of any physician input in the ordering and interpretation of the urine tests. . 
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Moreover, there was no evidence that the test results were used to modify the treatment being 

received by the patient." 

25. Annotated on page 25 of the Presentment is the folloWing quote from Dr. Thomas' 

report in this matter: "The medical records reviewed in this case show a clear pattern or lacking 

basic required elements of medical evaluation, such as history and physical examinations, 

standard blood work, discharge summaries or queries of the Prescription Drug Monitoring 

Program." 

26. Annotated on page 25 of the Presentment is the following quote from Dr. Thomas' 

report in this matter: "The number, type and combination of drug screens appear to have been 

chosen for reasons that have nothing to do with appropriate monitoring of the treatment courses 

of the patients." 

27. Annotated on page 26 of the Presentment is the following: "In December 2017, 

Liberation Way sold a 70% portion of the btisiness to a: private equity finn for$~ 1.6 million. 

The proceeds from the sale were divided among the Liberation Way owners ·and investors 

including Gerner, Coluccio, Annstrong, Dr. Braccia, Hadi and the Estate ofFettertnan." 

28. Respondent was charged With one (1) felony count ofCorrupt Organizations, in 

violation of 18 Pa. C.S.A. §§911(b)(3). 

29. Respondentwas charged with one (1) felony count of Criminal Conspiracy- Corrupt· 

Organizations; in violation of 18 Pa. C.S.A. §§911(b)(4). 

30. Respondent was charged with one (l) .felony count of Dealing in Proceeds of 

Unlawful Activities, in violation of 18 Pa. C.S.A. §§5111(a)(l) 

31. Respondent was charged with one (1) felony count of Knowledge that Property is 

Proceeds ofillegai Act, in violation of 18·Pa. C.S.A. §§5111(a)(2). 
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32. Respondent was charged with one (1) felony count ofFalse/Fraudulent Insurance 

Claim, in violation of 18 Pa. C.S.A. §§4117(a)(2). 

33. Respondent was charged with one (!}felony comit oflnsurance Fraud, in violation of 

18 Pa. C.S.A. §§4117(a)(3). 

3.4. Respondent was charged with one (1) felony count oflnsurance Fraud- Knowingly 

Benefits from Proceeds, in violation of 18 Pa. C.S.A. §§4117(a)(5). 

35. Respondent was charged with one (I} felony count ofHealth Care Facility Insurance 

Fraud, in violation of 18 Pa. C.S.A. §§4117(a)(6). 

3 6. Respondent was charged with one (1) felony count of Theft by Deception, in 

violation of 18 Pa. C.S.A. §3922(a)(1 ). 

37. Respondent was charged with one (1) felony count of Criminal Conspiracy­

Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities, in violation of 18 Pa. C.S.A. §903(a)(l ). 

38. Based upon the foregoing factual allegations, the Respondent's continued practice as 

an osteopathic physician & surgeon within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, along with the 

exercise of any other authorizations to practice the profession issued by the Board, makes 

Respondent an immediate and clear danger to the public health and safety. 

WHEREFORE, the Petitioner respectfully requests that the Board issue an Order 

immediately suspending all of Respondent's authorizations to practice the profession issued by the 

Board, and in particular, the license to practice as an osteopathic physician & surgeon, license 

number OS006737L, pursuant to the authority granted to it pursuant to Section 14(a) of the · 

Osteopathic Medical Practice Act, act ofOctober 5, 1978, P.L. 1109, No. 261, ("Act"), 63P.S. § 

271.14(a). 
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Rr~e:~~ 
KeithE. Bashore 
Prosecuting Attorney 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
Department of State 
P.O. Box 69521 
Harrisburg, PA 17106,.9521 
(717) 783-7200 



COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 

~C~O~U~N~TY~~O_F~:B~U=C=~=·· ~~---------- ­
' Magisterial District Number: 07·1-11 

MOJ: Hon.John Durkin 
Address: 31 E. Cleveland Avenue 

Morrlsvllle, ·PA 19067 

Telephone: (215)736-1121 

POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 

VS. 

. ·DR~ ~OOMENICK '· . 
· FirstNBi#e. · . 

·. ·1630 WHITE 'OAK ROAD 
PERKAsrf; -PA 1S944. : . 

. . . ' . . ' . 

(NAME snd ADDRESS): 

BRACCIA 

EXHIBIT 
~ ·1-Felony Fun· 

0 2-Felony LimHed 

LJ 5-Ferony Pending Eldf.idltlon . ·· [] ~ISdemeailor Surrounding States 1 
0 3-Felony Surrounding states 
0 4-Felony No Extra~llion 

[] 6-Felony Pending Extradition ·eeterrn. 0 D-~lsdemeanor No !=xtradilion 

0 A-Misdemeanor Full D E~l\!fisdemeanor Pending Extradition 

D a-Misdemeanor Limited . 0 F-Misdemeanor Pending Extradition 

Ge 

DocketJfum~r . (Q I D. • · .. F. lied r • OTNILiveScan Number Camplaintllncident Number :::=~b 
~(~,(~~~~9~~~--~--~ - ~·.~~· ~·04· ~~u~r~~~~~~0~t~~~>~·~6~~~~~~F·~~0'~17~-0~2R~7-----4-~0~YE~S~0~.N_O~ 
GEN.DER '- v . , POB · k Add'l DOB I I Co-Defendant(&) ~ 
I2Sl Male r- First Name Middle Name ·· Last Name Gen. 

0 Female :·AKA 

RACE .·.·~ White []Asian ... . 
~HNICITY · 0 Hlipanic ~ Non~Hispanlc 

0 GRY (Gray) D RED (Red/Aubn.) 0 sov csandy) 
Hair · 
Color I2Sl BLK (BlaCk) 0 ONG (Orange) D WHI (White) 

0 BLN (Bia'!""i ~~ 

·Eye 0 Bt:K: (Biacki CleLU (Biuei · · · 181 BRO (Brown) 

Color 0 HAZ (Hazel) tJ MAR {MaRiOn) 0 PNK (Pin~) 

:. DNA : l', o YE~ o NO L DNA~~on 

lJ.BI~. 
O Unknown 

0 BLU (Biue) . 

0 XXX (Unk./Bald) 

[ Native American 

0 PLE (Purple) 

0 GRN (Green) 

IJ GRN (GI8Ein) 

[J MliL (MultiColored) 

lJ Unknown 

0 BRO (Brown) 

0 PNK(Pink) 

0 GRY (Gray) · 

D XXX (Unknown) 

' WEIGHT (lbs.) 

200 
. Ft HEIGHT ln. 

5 I 9 

Plate# 
r 
s~ · ·~· Haz 

·· mat 
: .o 

Registration r• CDrrim'IVeh. ' 
Sticker. (MMIYY) I Ind. 0 

.. 

Sch~ Veh. I Ottl. NClC Veh. Code Reg. 
same 
•Def . 

VIN • Year , Make · f Model j Style / Color 0 

Office of the attorney for the Commonwealth 0 Approved 0 Disapproved because:_-------------­

(Tne attOrney for the t6rnn'iOnwealihma)'i'eqUirethat me i::arripli!un( aiiiifwanal'lt iiffldaVit, dtb'Otti be.appro\iid b. Die attomey tOr the COmmonwealth ~nor 
to filing. See Pa.R.Crlm.P. 507). . . · ·. 

DAG KRISTYN.E:. QUSTI.SO,AG R.Qat;RT I.A~AR 
(Name of the attomey'ronhe commonweaiih) · · · 

I. SSA ERICNORMANJ SSA DOUGLAS HILYARD 
(Name of the Affiant) 

~ .... , 
~ $5 /2SI iz>.49 
\n ~ ~. (p~e) : . 

(PSPIMPOETC -ASsigned Affiant l!!,.~tl~l't. B:id!e # .. ·• 

of Penn$'VIvania Office of Attorney General · PA0?22400 ·. ~~ . ~- · ~. · 
(Identify Department ofAgericy Represented and Political SubdhiiSicin) ·(Pollee Agency ORr Number) ~ ·'!/ \.Jf ... ·._ .• :_:_·.·. 

do hereby state: (check appropriate box) . · 
1. D 1 accuse the above name.d.defendant who lives at the address set forth above ,... -~ .. .... . ·~. 

0 I accuse the defendant whose name is unknown to nie but who is described as ------------------------
0 I accuse the defendant whose name and popular designation or nickname are unknown to me and whom I have 

therefore desi!:lnated. as John Doe or Jane Doe · 
with violating the penal laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania at {422' J · Yardley Boro 

· {::;ubdlvlslon COd&j (·tTpJr.r.ace;;;;j:p:d. -:rno;mfhP<Ica1rrf ~S'"ubd,.;::m:ivi""'siO"'n"'") ---

in BUCKS County [09] on or about JULY 2015 THROUGH JULY 2018 

~----~~~~~~~--~~(~Co~u~nw~.~coo~eJ~· ~--------------------------------·~---------------J 
Page lot~ 

··----·-'-----..,_ __ _ 
AOPC 412A- Rev. 7/18 

----------·- ·. --···- ______ ..._ 



• POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 
'"' 
DocketJumbei": ,._ · · · ,_Qate Filed: j OTN/Live~an Number J. Complalntllt1cldent Number 

'( L .Cr) '--'( · i . . 3 }:;;;/ J lj I A L,; ~ r/7 '& -0 · ·IF-20.17 .;Q287 
First: 

' .. I -
;f Middle: I Last: . .(':. 

. .p8fendant.~ame:· DR. DOMENICK BRACCIA· .... ~ . ' 

The acts committed·by theaecused.are describedbelowwithf!,aclfACtofAssembly or statute allegedly violated, if appropriate. 
When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically. 
(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufliclentto advise the defendant o~ the natu,.. of the offense(s)charged. A citation to the statute( a) allegedly violated, 
without more, Is not sufficient. In a summary case~ ycu must cite the specific sectlon(s) and subilectlon(s) of the atatute(s) or ordinance(s) allegedly violated. 
The age of the YicUm at the time of the offense may be ln~uded If known. In addition, social aecurfty numbers and financlal·lnformatlon (e.g, PINs) should not 
be listed. If the Identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.COde §§ 213.1 - 213.7.) 

0 AttemPt · 
.. 18901A 

0 Solicitation 
18902A 

0 Conspiracy 
18903 

Number of VIctims Age 60 or Older __ _ 

Lead? Olfense 
fl 

.;;.., PennPO~'Da1a 
:· . . (if . pj)JfQa.,J•l 

j.:b3 · ·. h~ .. ·.~.·~.·.TITLE. 018 .. · 
.- ., ~ .it, -· • • 

I F_l· .· 
Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade 

:J~··J :· .· .· ---.. -- --.- I 0 Interstate I 
Statute Description (include the name cjf statute or ordinance): coRR.OPT oR.GANIZ.AnONS 

. . 

NCIC Offense 
Code 

0 Safety Zone l 
UCRIN!BRS Code 

0 Work Zone 

Acts of the aecused associated with this Offense: 3) It shall be unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any enterprise to conduct 
or partidpate, directly or lndlrecliy, In the conduct of sudl enterprise's: affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity. 

DA'ttempt· 
18901 A 

: d so'ricl.on .· ·. 0 Consphacy 
. 18902A 16903 

Number. of Victims Age 60 or Older 

0 J .2' 1911 ' . It I Fl 
Lead? · otren$e# Section Subsection PA S1a1u1e (Tille) Counts Grade 

........ .'.' 

· ... Peft'nDOTDda · 1~1. r tJ Interstate I ·.:, .. Aff;.p~i~j.· -: ... . · ~- .... -.--. ·- . 
Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS 

NCIC Olreilse 
Coda 

D Safety Zone I 
UCRINIBRS Code 

0 Work Zone 

Acts of the. aceused associated with ttiis Offense: (4) itsttall be unlaWful ftir aoy person to conspire to violate any of the proVIsions of paragraphs 
(1), (2) or (3) of this subsection:. It shaU be unlawful for any person employed by or assodated with any enterprise to conduct or partldpate, directly or 
indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity 

' ··. Jhcboate . 0 Attempt 
,: :Offe~ . 18 901 A 

0 Solicitation 
18.902A 

0 Conspiracy 
18903 

Number of Victims Age 60 or Older __ _ 

o 13 '!su1 f- ar R! nri.E1t:r I .1 I Ff 
Lead? .· Clffeilsel\! Seetion . : SubseCtion PA StatUte (!' HI~) Counts · Gilide. NC!C Offense Code UCRJNIBRS Cad!) .. ~==·-:. r~ =~· L-... -.. -.. -..... r . 0 Interstate I 0 Safety:Zone I 0 Work Zone 

Statute Desciiption (iridlide the 'tiame of statute Or ordinance): DEALING IN PROCEEDS OF UNLAWFUL ACTJVITIES 

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: A person commits a felony of the firSt: degree If the person conduc::tS a financial transaction under 
any of the following drcumstances: 
(1) With knowledge that the property Involved,· lnduding stolen or Illegally obtained property, represents the proceeds of unlawf\11 activity, the person acts 
with the intent to promote the carrying on of the unlawful activity. · · 

--~- .... _. .. .. -.-. ... 
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- POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 
· Complalntllricldant Number 

l':---:-~~.,-~-u;:::::_-l..-.l-t-~~~'___J"'----~..t:.+¥.:L.-~,L.~.,L-~-------r.-::::-:::;-"'...:.;IF'--=20::_;1~7--=.:0=28=7'--·-----· -j 

~--~------~----~----------J 
tncfi~CB 
,:Q.ff,n .. ... 

·n .AttemPt· 
... 18~01A 

o sorkiti.tion 
18902A 

Number of VIctims Age 60 or Older __ _ 

0 ,. 4: · ) 5111 I Fl. 1 a2 ·. 
. . 1"'-''!'A'' ·~ .. . . 

. . . . 
Lead? O!relii>el .. . . .... ~fl; 

. . .. . 
Subsection , PA SIB lute fl llli!J· <:OiiniB Grade NCIC Offense Code UCRINIBRS Code 

PennOOT'Oati I .A(x:ident J J. 0 Interstate 
/ 

0 Safety Zone I 0 Work Zone 
(if,;~pp·IJ~) NumPer . --

Statute Description . (il1clude the name ofstatute or ordilui11ee): DEAUNG lrn»ROCEEDS OF UNLAWFUL ACTMTlES 

.... 

Acts of the accused associated with this Offlmse: A penion commits a felonv of ttie first degree If the person conducts a finandal transaction under 

any of the following. drcurnstances: 
(2) With knowledge that the property Involved, indudlng stolen or illegally Qbtalned property, represents the proceeds of unlawful activity and that the 

transaction is designed In whOle or In part to conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, ownership or control of the proceeds of unlawful actiVIty . 

. {t•IIChoate 0 Attempt 
·~. . 18901A 

0 Solicitation 
18902~, 

D Conspiracy 
18903 

·Number of VIctims Age 60 or Older __ _ 

o Js. 'l 4u7 Jai l·~~l~ta . J1 
Lead? Offense# · , . SSclilm .. S~dion PA Stilfute (T'ftli;!J · · Counts UCRINIBRS Code 

I FJ·. 
Grade NCIC Offemi4fCocle 

1 0 Safety Zone I 0 Work Zone 

Statute DescriptiOn (include the hanie of statute or ordinance): INsURANCE FIW.iD 

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: (2} Knowingly and with the intent to defraud any Insurer or self-insured, presents or causes to 

be presented to any Insurer or.seff-ln5urect any statement funning a part of, or In support of, a dalm that contains any false, Incomplete or misleading 

Information concerning any fact or. thing material to the dalm. 

fD ~=:on · .. ., tJ ;;;:racy· j! 'I Number of VIctims Age CIO or Older __ .... 

IF3 I I 
Grade NCIC Otren11 Code UCRINIBRS Code 

I 0 Safety Zone 
/ 

0 WorkZone 

Statute Description {include the name of starute.or ordinance): IN5URANCE FRAUD 

ActS of tf'le accused associated with this Offense: (3) Knowingly and with the intent to defraud any insurer or self-insured, assists, abets, solicits 

or conspires with another to prepare or make any statement that Is Intended to be presented to any Insurer or self-insured in connection with, ·or In support of, 

a daim that contains any. false, Incomplete or misleading Information concerning any tact or thing material to the dalm, Including lnfonnation which documents 

or supports an ·amount dalmed in excess of the actual loss sustained by the daimant. · 

-----· - " _____ ,.__....._ ___ ___ .... ~··------
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i» POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 
Dock·e· t }iu~~~r:_ ( :.1 CK. 11 -:. ~t •L . 

..Qfte F ___ i ___ led: J· · 
...... JulJ..i4 .. .... . ._;;,C)") 01~/LI. v~ .. S~q ~u.· mber 

c.{ r .. t\r)l '() .. lf -6 1 :comp.laintllncldent Number· 
IF-2017-0287 

First: 
DR. DOMENICK 

;j Middle: 

OAtteiript 
18901 A 

o SoriCJt8tii)i1 
. 18902A 

o canspirac; 
18903 

Number of Victims Age ·eo a.r Older __ _ 

o- 11 ·: ·1 411.7. j,as," : r.~~fmli 1a f'i · . 1 F3·.. · 
Lead? .Ofl'lii~ae# •· . Section. Subsliction .. . PA SlaMe (TIUef . Count$ H Grade NCIC Offense Code UCRINIBRS Code 

t·~;: -~;'ti~aetAI , . I ··= · --~· j 0 Interstate j 0 Safety Zone j 0 Work Zone 

Statute Description (inciude t~e hame of statute or ordinance): IIVsuRAillcE i=RAuD 

Acts of the aCcused a;ociatedwiththis:C>ffehse: (5) KnOwingly benefits, directly or Indirectly, from the proceeds derived from a vtolatlon of this 
section due to the assistance,. oonsplracy or urging of ariy person. 

·· d ·sOlicitation ·· 
18902A 

OCOnsPifKY 
18903 

·Number of VIctims Age 60 or Older __ _ 

0 j·s .. : 'l41ti [ a§·· 
Lead? Offen88lll . Section Subsection 

'~t·trri.E ~s r r. · · · 
. . PA. Sla1ute.Jlllle)- . . COUniS UCRINIBRS Code 

·· j·F3 · 
G111de NCIC Offense Code 

0 Interstate J 0 Safety Zo_ne I 0 Work Zone 

Statute Description (include the name of statute or o~inance): iNSURANcE FRAuD 

... · · • . 

Acts o( the accuseda$sociatedwith this Offense: (6) ·ts the owner; ai:Jiniriistrator er employee of any health care fadlity and knowingly allows the 
use of such facility by any person in furtherance of a scheme or conspiracy to violate any of the provisions d ttJis section. 

lfn,Chaa~ D AttemPt 
:~. 18901A 

0 Solicitation· , ·oconsplracy 
18 902 A 18·903 

Number of VIctims Age· 60 or Older __ _ 

0 
'! .. ···.·· 
' 392 9 ·, 2'' al ·. 

' f~ 
·. 

' .. .. 
' · ·· · ·· ' .. .. .. . 

Leac? o~~e~# · · 
.. 

5eeti(ii'l .-Subliedii)n PA Stittitl! :rlttef .. ·counlii Grade NCIC Offense Code UCRINIBRS Corse· 

P~nO.OT Data .r ~. j ---· --· . 

'I' l I Ci Interstate 0 Safety Zone 0 Wolt(Zone 
flf'appiJCOCibkitl. ~ .. -.... - .- . .. .. . .... 

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): 

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: A pe,;sm, is guilty of theft if tie lntentienally obtains or wlthlJoldS property of another by 
deception. A person deceives if he intentionally: 
(1) aeates or reinforces a false lmpreS5ion, induding false impressions as to law, value, Intention ·or other state of mind; but deception as to a person's 
Intention to perfonn a promise shall not be Inferred from the fact alone that he did not subsequently perform the promise. Amount of theft exceeds I $500,000.00. 

---~· --------- -~ - ·-- ~ --.__.... __...... -~-·- ~------
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.. .. , ' 
W POLICE CRJMINAL COMPLAINT 

Docket NqTber: ·/) ~~~1ef2J l OTN/I,.iveScan Number l Complalntnnclderrt Number 
(JfJt~-- ·· L>f .D fi o 7'/i' tr- -6 IF-2017 -0287 

Oeft!IWJdant. ~~: 
First: I Middle: I ~:cCIA DR. DOMENICK .._ 

: tJ i\itimPI · 
1~~01A · 

tl soriC:Itition 
11J 9(}2/1. 

Number of VIctims Age eo or Older __ _ 

o ! l(f · 19o3/sttl l ar · I Fl . 
. :-. .. . . :;.>--:-· . . 

Lead? . otrenaef .. :Seclkm . . SUbSectiOn -~ .. . ·pA Sf8tute_[f1Be}: COUnts · Giadil . NCIC Oflilnu Code UCRINIBRS Code .. 

:. -~DOT;.,_ .. ·.1 -~ 
~- • . ' ' • I • ..,. • • 

... q ~.llf-n:i.Pl,...l'. ..' · ~ J_ 1 0 Interstate I 0 Safety Zone I 0 Work Zone 

Statute Description (include the name cifstatute otoroinance): CRIMINAL cONSPIRAev OF 5111 (Al)DEAilNG IN PROCEEDS OF 
UNLAWFUL ACTIVITIES . . . . 

.. 

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: A person Is guilty ofamspiracy with another person or.' persons to commit a crime If with the 

Intent of promoting or fadlltating its commission he: 
(I) agrees with such othC!f'person or pers011s that they or one or more rlthem win engage In conduct which constitutes such a1me or an attempt or solldtation 

to commit such crtme. ·In that the Defendant did conspire With others to; conduct a financial transaction under any of the following drcumstanc.es: · 

2) With knowiEl<:Jge that the property Involved, lnduding stnlen or illegally obtained property, represents the proceeds of unlawful aCtivity and that the 

transaction Is designed In whole or In part to cimceal or disguise the nature, locatiOn, source, t:iwnershlp or control of the proceeds of unlawful activity. 

· "fnchhrit 
--~~ -

0 Attempt 
18901-.4. 

0 Sollcltatlciii • . 0 COnspiracy 
.111J!02A , .. 18903 

N_umber of Victims Age 60 or Older __ _ 

Grade · NCIC Offense Code · UCRINIBRS Code 

I 0 Safety Zone I 0 Work Zone 

Statute Descriptihli (inClude the name of statute or ordinance): 

Acts of the accused asSociated with this Offense: 

/ 

0 
Lead? .. 0118nse#.. · SectiOn .. • . Sub$edl0n .. . PA~.[Tllfe) . _ Coun18 .·Grade NCIC Offense COde UCRINIBRS Code 

Pen~J:Daf;a' . J ACCfJ1ent j' 
• :· . · .{if.appJf~ · · ~,.,.., . --.. . 0 Interstate I 0 Safety Zone I 0 Work Zone . 

Statute Pescriptioif(iridllde. the ria me of statute or ordlnanee): 

I Acts of the accused associatecfwith this Offense: . 

. ---- ____ .., __ .. -- ...... ... ----·----- -----
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2. I ask that a warrant of arrest or a summons be issued and that the defendant be required to answer the charges I have 
made. 

·3. I verify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the best of my knoWledge or information and 
belief. This verification is mad.e subject to the penalties of Section 4904 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4904) relating 
to unsworn falsification to authorities. · 

4. This complaint consists of the preceding page(s) numbered 1 through LIZ: 

5. I certify that this filing complies with the provisions of the Case Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial 
System of Pennsylvania that require filing confid~ntial information and documents differently that non-confidential 
information and documents. · · · 

·The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes cited. 
(Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affidavit of probable cause must be CO"'!Pieted, sworn to before the 
issulnfJ. JIJthority~ a11dattached.) 

(Date) 

AND NOW, on this date 

{Year) 

CJ!CJ;;fr7 I certify that the complaint has been property completed and verified. 

An affidavit of probable cause must be completed b~fore a warrant can· be issued. 

'7' 
-~~ . / ' ' ::.·· ·/"".· .. ·. ·· . ;~~ (.- . __ :·· .. •. .: · . "!' .. - . . · . 

. "·· ·-· :· . . : ... :·.. .. . ....... . 

~irig AUth · : ) 

------------~~------------------~------~--------------------------------------------

-----·- · ... . . --- ,__ __ 
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riiic~~~71~t('r 
. ~ . . .. . . . .... . 

~feFIIecf· .. I OTN/UveScan Number I Compl•lmnncfdent Number 
. l(J. f~ c,~.,r\ tlo·1 ~'it{ -6 IF-2017~87 

W POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I· First '. 
J Middle: I ~~CCIA Defendant "'ame? DR •. DO!VI~NICK 

AFFIDAVIT of PROBABLE CAUSE 

A. Your Affiants, Eric Norman and Douglas Hilyard, Special Agents of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney 

General (PA OAG), being duly sworn, depose and say; 

B. Your Affiants have been -conducting a criminal investigation into violations of the criminal laws of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. This investigation has used the resources of the Forty-First Statewide 

Investigating Grand Jury: On March 11, 2019, the Forty~First Statewide Investigating Grand Jury issued 

Presentment Number 32. On March 12, 2019 the Honorable lillian Harris Ransom, Supervising Judge, 

entered a court order accepting the Grand Jury's recommendation of charges and findings. The 

Presentment, attached and herein incorporated by reference, recommends that the Attorney General of 

Pennsylvania or his designee file the charges specified in this criminal complaint and Presentment 

Number 32 against the following individuals and corporations 1: 

INDIVIDUALS: 

Jason GERNER, Branden COLUCCIO, Michael ARMSTRONG, Jesse PETERS, Domenick BRACCIA, 

M.D., Ramesh SARVAIYA, M.D., Muhammad ABDUL-HADI, Scott COLLINS, Michael SARUBBI, 

Dana FETTERMAN, Elsie CONCEPCION 

CORPORAT.IONS: 

Liberatlol:l Way, LLC, libe.ration Behavioral Health, UC, Liberation House, LLC, LEAF Healthcare 

Financial, Llc, Ph illy 180, LlC, Alban, UC, Legacy House, LLC, Prestige Worldwide, LLC, Hope 

for Families, llC . 

C. Your Affiants beli.eve through participation in this in'.'estigation and as recommended by the Forty-First 

Statewide Investigating Grand Jury that probable causes exists for the arrest of the above named parties 

and respectfully ask this honorable court to issue arre.st warrants for the above named parties so that 

they maybe be brought before this court to answer to the charges set forth herein. 

1 Pursuant to 18 Pa.C.S.A. §307 (a)(3)- A corporation may be convicted of the commission of an offense lf: (3} the commission of the 

offense was authorized, requested, commanded, performed or recklessly tolerated by the board of directors or a ,high managerial agent 

acting in behalf of the corporation within the scope of his office or employment. 

_...__ __ -----·--.· -~··~ ..;.,, .•. ·.--···-·"''------------"------·-·- ·---
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First: 
DR. DOMENICK 

J, SSA ERIC NORMAN 1 SSA DOUGLAS HILYARD, BEING DULY SWORN ACCORDING TO THE LAW, DEPOSE 
AND SAY THAT THE FACTS SET FORTH IN THE FOREGOING AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE 
BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION AND BELIEF. 

I CERTIFY THAT THIS FILING COMPLIES WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE CASE RECORDS PUBLIC ACCESS 
POLICY OF THE UNIFIED JUDICIAL SYSTEM OF PENNSYLVANIA .THAT REQUIRE FILING CONFiDENTIAL 

INFORMATION AND DOCUMENT$ DIFFERENTLY THAT NON.,CONFIDEiffl~? AND DOCUMENTS. 

!Jd: &iib.~ .. -7 
(Signature Qf Affiant) 

~mrome•oo::s~J~·~ 
·. y:V ... -

My commission expires fii'St Monday of January, .;1_ () [J_ tJ 

, Magisterial District Judge 

~-------- ··~~-·-
AOPC 412A ...:.. Rev. 7/18 
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INRE: 

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA 

: SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA 
: 174 M.D. MISC. DKT. 2016 

THE FORTY-FIRST STATEWIDE 

INVESTIGATING GRAND JURY 

. .. 
: MONTGOMERY COUNTY COMMON PLEAS 
: CP-46-MD-385-2017 

: NOTICE NO. 61 

ORDER ACCEPTING PRESENTMENT NO. 32 

1. The Court finds Ptesentment No. 32 of the Forty-First Statewide Investigating Grand· 

Jury is within the authority of said Grand Jury and is in accordance with the provisions of the Inves­

tigating Grand Jury Act, 42 Pa:C.S. §§ 4541 et seq. Accordingly, this Presentment is accepted by the 

Court. 

2. The County for conducting the trial of all charges pursuant to this Presentment shall be 

· BuckS County. 

3. It is hereby recOmmended that the Attorney General of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvama institute appropriate criminal proceedings in the aforesaid county. 

Lb. 

SO ORDERED this /.).. day ofMarch, 2019 

I 
I 



INRE: 

IN TilE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
MONTGOMERY COuNTY, PENNSYLVANIA 

: SUPREME COURT OJi' PENNSYLVANIA 
: 174 M.D. MISC. D.KT. 2016 

THE FORTY-FIRST STATEWIDE 

JNVESTIGATJNG GRAND JiiRY 
: MONTGOMERY COUNTY COMMON PLEAS 
: CP-46-MD-385-2017 

: NOTICE NO. 61 

TO THE HONORABLE Lll.LIAN HARRIS RANSOM, SUPERVISING JUDGE: 

PRESE:Nl'mNTNO. 32. 

We, the Forty~First Statewide Investigating Orand Jucy, duly charged to inquire into offenses 

against the criminal laws of the Commonwealth, have obtained knowledge of silch matters from wit-

nesses sworn by the Court and testifying before tis. We find reasonable grounds to believe that 

various violations of the criniinallaws have occwred. . So finding with no fewer than twelve 

concurring, we do hereby make ~s Presentment to the Court 

Forepersq
9

. · .. · · · ··· · 

The Forty-First StateWide Investigating Grand Jury 

DATED: MarchE 2019 

I 
j 
I 

I 
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.INTRODUCTION 

We, the members of the Forty-First Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, having received 

and reviewed evidence pertaining to violations of the Pennsylvania Crimes Code occurring in and 

around numerous . counties in Pennsylvania including, but not limited to, Buck; Dauphin, 

Montgomery, Chester; Delaware and Philadelphia counties, pursuant to Notice of Submission of . . 

Investigation Number 61, do hereby make the following findings of :fact and recommendation of 

charges: 

FINDINGS OF FAC'f. 

The Grand Jury conducted an investigation into allegations that Liberation Way, LLC 

("Libenrtion Way), a company having a principal place ofbusiness in Yardley, Bucks County, 

generated millions of dollars . in profits by exploiting . individuals with drug. and alcohol 

dependencies as tools to defraud insurance companies. From 2015'jhrough 2018, Liberation Way 

and its holding company, Liberation Behavioral Heal~ LLC ("Liberation Behavioral"), along 

with Liberation Way's founding me,nber8, various employees and investors, illegally secured and 

paid the premiums for their patients' insurance policies so they could then bill insurance companies 

for treatments that were sub-standard, not provided, or, medically unnecessary. In addition, as a 

money-making scheme, these individual$ and entities implemented a cycle of "treatment'' that 

ille~Uy required patients to live in company-owned housing~ and was designed to maximiZe the 

amount of time for which insm:ance could be billed- to the ~etriment not just of the insurers, but 

of the patients themselves. The investigation further revealed that Dallas Fetterman ("Fettennan'') 

and Jason Gerner ( .. Gerner''), two of the founding members of Liberation Way, developed an 

elaborate and cOmplex "kickback'' scheme wherein thousands ofmedically Unilecessary urine tests 

were sent to Florida-based laboratory facilities for analysis. The laboratory facilities, in tum, billed 

I 
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the insurance companies for the testing at exorbitant rates. Once the laboratory facilities received 

the insurance payments for the testing, a portion of the money collected was sent to Fettmman and 

Gerner. When the wmecessary laboratory fees were not paid-in-full by the billed insurance 

company, labOratory employees and members of Liberation Way harassed and thr~ned the 

patients-and their families, demanding that they pay the outstanding balances. This activity served 

to increase the "kickback" amounts received by Fetterman and Gerner. 

• CREATION OF LIBERATION WAY · 

The· Grand Jury heard testimony that Fetterman, 1 Gerner and Branden Coluccio 

("Coluecio") designed a business plan to create a. drug and alcohol rehabilitation facility which 

wou1d ultimately result in the fotniation of Liberation Way.2 Special Agent Eric Norman -("SA 

.Norman'') of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General ("OAG'') testified that Liberation Way 

was registered with the Pennsylvania Department of State as entity number 4342604~ with an 

address of90 West Afton Avenue, Suite 101 in Yardley, Bucks County. 

SA Norman stated that the OAG began investigating Liberation Way after receiving a 

referral from the Department ofDrug and Alcohol Programs ("DDAP") following complaints from 

several former employees and patients of Liberation Way. Specifically, it was alleged that 

Liberation Way was billing insurance companies fot treatments that were not provided and/or were 

sub~standard. Additionally, it was alleged that Liberation Way was obtaining health insurance 

policies for patients by using fraudulent information so that the patients would qualify for "high-

1 The Grand Jury learned that Fetterman died in Florida in 2017. 

2 At the same time that Liberation Way was created, Liberation :Behavioral and LBH Holdings, 

LLC were also created with Liberation Behavioral serving as a holding company. Fetterman, 

Gerner, Coluccio and other investors fonned Liberation Behavl.oral on October 13, 2014. 

Liberation Way was a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberation Behavioral. 
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end" insurance policies, The "high-end" policies were those that paid the highest amounts to 

Liberation Way for the treatments. 

The Grand Jury learned that the "'DDAP" is the state oversight entity for drug and alcohol 

treatment programs in Pennsylvania. In order for a drug and alcohol rehabilitation facility to 

operate in Pennsylvania, it must first apply for, and obtain a license through, the DDAP. The 

Grand Jury heard testimony from Wenona Wake' ("Wake"), the Bureau Director for Quality 

Assurance for Prev<mtion arid Treatment for the;DDAP. Wake advised that Liberation Way's 

initial application for~ license through the DDAPwas submitted in 2015 and listed an address in 

Yardley, Bucks County.3 Geiner was listed on the application as the owner ofLiberation Way and 

the point of contact for the facility. Coluccio and Fetterman were also listed as owners of the 

facility. 

The Grand Jury viewed the application for Liberation Way that was signed and verified by 

Gerner as being truthful and accurate. Gerner attested in the application that neither he, nor an.y 

of the individuals listed ~ the application, had ever been the subject of criminal charges~ 

Specifically, Gerner answered "no" to 1he question ''Have any of the facilities/[Narcotic Treatment 

Progmins] identified and/or individual(s) identified in this document been the subject of 

CRIMINAL CHARGES?" Gerner also answered "no'' to the question "Have any ·of the 

faciJitiesi{Narcotic Treatment Programs] identified and/or indlvidual(s) identified in this documeilt 

b~n the subject of CIVIL CHARGES? .. The Grand Jury learned that these statements were false 

as Gerner had previous criminal convictions and was also the subject of a fraud investigation 

undertaken by his prior employer in New Jersey. Wake testified that the DDAP relied upon the 

3 Wake testified that Gemer submitted another application on June 1, 20~6 fora second location 
in BalaCynwyd, Montgomery County. A :fin:al application for a third location in Fort Washington, 
Montgomery Cotinty was submitted on August 17, 2016. 
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truthfulness of these answers to detetmine whether the facility was eligible tO receive licensure by 

the DDAP. She stated that any omissions or fillse statements could be a reason for the 

disqualification/rejection of a license application. 

Wake testified that the application for the Yardley location noted that the facility would be 

used for intake evaluations, referrals, outpatient and pmtial hospitalization. She explained that 

intake evaluation and referral is a service thai every licensed drug and alcohol facility conducts. It 

entails an assessment to determine the level of care to be assigned to an individual prior to his/her 

admission. The Grand Ju,ry learned that there are various classifications or levels of care associated 

with drug arid alcohol treatment Only certain levels of care are pennitted to occur in an outpatient 

facility as opposed to a hospital or inpatient trea1ment program. On July 24, 2015~ Liberation Way 

recdved its lie~ from the DDAP. Wake Stated that Liberation Way was only approved for 

outpatiem treatment services; it Was not licensed to operate as an inpatient facility, which includes 

both treatment and housing for the patient. 4 Inpatient treatment also includes· more intensive 

services for patients who are not yet capable of completing outpatient levels of care. Domenick 

Braccia, M;D. ("Dr. Braccia") was listed as the Medical Director on Liberation Way's application. · 

Wake explained that, as Medical Director, it would be Dr. Btaccia's responsibility to oversee all 

of the medical a~vities, including the dispensing of narcotic medications. Further, as Medical 

Director, Dr. Braccia would be the individual who would approve the ordering of medication and 

detenniri.e appropri!ite dOsage requirements for a patient. 

4 Liberation Way was licensed by the DDAP to provide: Deto.xification("Detox'')(at their Fort 

Washington location, only); partial hospitalization program {"PHP"); intensive outpatient program 

("lOP"); ana, sober living levels of care. SA Norman explained that each.lc;wel of eare was 

reimbursed at different amounts by i.ti.sw"8llce plans. Detox was reimbursed at the highest rate, 

followed by PHP, lOP and sober living, respectively. · 

4 



Liberation Way's Yardley facility opened in. July 2015 with Fetterman serving as the 

president, Gerner serving as the Chief Executive Officer and Coluccio serving as the Chief 

Financial Officer. A few months later,· Michael Annstrong ("Armstrong'') became the Chief 

NetWorking Officer and was· involved in the day-to-day operations .and the "marketing" activities 

of Liberation Way. The Grand Jury learned that "marketing" was a term used to describe the 

recruitment of patients with drug and alcohol addictions for potential treatment at Liberation Way, 

or a treatment center affiliated with Liberation Way. 

• "PLATINUM PLAN'' INSURANCE POUCIES 

From its inception, Liberation Way structured its business plan to target specific insurance 

carriers who offered plans that paid the highest reimbursement amount for the daily treatment of a 

patient attending Liberation Way. Liberation Way's business plan specifically targeted "out-of­

network" insurance carriers. Liberation Way, being an out-of-network provider, billed insurance 

companies any amount it ·deemed appropriate for treatment services. The out-of-network 

designation meant that Liberation Way did not have any contractual · agreements with insurance 

oomp8nies regarding reimbursement rates or schedules. Generally, insuranCe plans with "out-of­

network'; benefits reimburse at higher rates theri insurance plan~ with "in-network" insurance 

benefits. The Grand Jmy learned that the cost for a patient to receive treatment at Liberation Way 

ranged from $3,000.00 to $5,000~00 per day. Daily costs were dictated by the specific level of 

care a.Ssigned to the patient (i.e., Detox, PHP, lOP, sober living). 

One insiu.1mce cattier that was tatgeted by Liberation Way was Independence Blue Cross 

("IBC"). IBC is a Pennsylvania insurance canier, providing coverage to customers residing in 

specific areas including Philadelphia, Bucks, Montgomery, Delaware and Chester counties; ·Jason 

Cottrell ("Cottrell"); an investigator with IDC, appeared before the Grand Jury and explained that 
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me discovered a significant number of claims that were submitted by Liberation Way in 

connection with newly issued policies in 2016. These policies were mc•s top tier c'platinum plan., 

policies with premium costs ninging from $500.00 to $8:00.00 per month. These "platinum plan, 

policies also provided mc•s highest reimbursement rates and the lowest deductible and out-of-
. . 

pocket expenses for covered patients. 

Cottrell testified that IBC was part of a. nationwide network of insurance companies of Blue 

Cross/Blue Shield. This network included insurance co.mpanies such as me and AmeriHealth of 

New Jersey (" AmeriHealth"). Cottrell testified that during his investigation of Liberation Way) it 
. . 

was determined that between July 2015 ~d the beginningof2018, Liberation Way billed all Blue 

Cross/Blue Shield ins~ce companies in excess of$115 million. Of that amount, the specific 

companies me and AmeriHealth had been billed nearly $60 million by Liberation Way. Cottrell 

indicated that the $~0 million billed to lBC and AmeriHealth did not include billings for urine 

testing of patient$ who were being treated at Liberation Way. 

Cottrell testified that as IBC began to further investigate the claims that were being 

submitteP for treatment of patients at Liberation Way~ it was Qiscovered that numerous claims 

invo]ved polices which had been obtained with me just prior to - - or sometimes the same day as 

- - the beginning of the patient's treatment. IBC's review of the applications for these newer 

policies _revealed that they . mostly involved "platinum plan" policies and contained several 

common addresses which were tisted on multiple applications as a home address. Cottrell noticed 

that, on several applications, the addresses were misspelled and listed incorrect zip code!!!. Cottrell 

testified -~t mc~s . investigation discovered that many of the customers applying for these 

"platinum plan" insurance policies._resided ollt:side the state of Pennsylvania and were therefore 

. not eligible for coverage through IBC. 
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Cottrell explained to the Grand Jmy that emollm~nt in an me insurance plan typically 

occurs during the open enrolhnent peliod. s If insurance is not obtained during the open enrollment 

period, an individual seeking insurance would have to enroll during a special enrollment period 

("SEP"). In order to apply for insurance during a SEP, a "life event" was required. A "life evenf, 

includes losing coverage from a previous employer, or moving to a new residence in an area that 

wo~d not be covered by tlie insurance carrier. 

A document published by the Center of Medicare and Medicaid Services was shared with 

the Grand Jwy. Cottrell explained that .the document defined a SBP and specifically defined the 

terms. "permanent move" and "intent to reside., Cottrell stated that "individuals visiting an 

exchange service area for a transitory purpose, like a business matter, to obtain medical care or for 

personal pleasure; do not have a present intent to reside.'' Accordingly, these individuals would 

not meet the residency requirement as defined by a SEP. 

The contract available on ffiC's website wa,s also shown to the Grand Jury. Specifically~ 

one clmlse in the contract stated: 

ccAny pen!on who knowingly and with intent to defraud any insurance 

company or other person fileS an appli~tion for insl:u:arice .or statement of 
claim containing any materially false information or conceals, for the 
purpose of misleading, information concerning any fact material thereto 
cormnits a fraudUlent insurance act, which is a crime and ·subjects such 

person to criminal and Civil pC.malties.,. 

Cottrell stated that misrepresentations with respect to residency would render a patient in~ligible 

fot· the plan that he/she was attempting to purchase. 

Michael Sarubbi ("Sarubbi'~), a former ~ployee of Liberation Way, testified that 

Liberation Way paid the insurance premiums for the patients~ policies, including "platinum plan" 

5 Open Enrollment generally occurs every year between the months of October and November. 
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policies. S~n·ubbi testified that he and Gerner purposely disguised the source of money used to pay 

for these policy premiums so that Liberation Way was not directly linked to the policies. The 

Grand Jury learned that federal guidelines prohibit a healthcare facility such as Liberation Way 

from paying the .insurance policies for individuals who were receiving treatment there. This 

prohibition was also set forth in me policy and was ·commonly known through the' industry. 

Sarubbi testified that he personally paid for the patients' premiums using Gerner's debit card 

information. Alternatively, he would go with Gerner to obtain cash in order to pay for the 

premitims. Sarubbi also stated that Liberation Way obtained pre-paid Visa cards to pay for some 

of the insurance policies. Initially, the policy premiums were paid from a bank account for Hope 

for Families, LLC (''Hope for Families"). Hope for Families was a company that was established 

by Gerner on April .17, 2015. Between August 2015 and November 2016, Hope for Families 

received ,$862,899.59 from Liberation Way accounts. During that time period, the same accounts 

were also used to pay the policy premiums for patients enrolled with AmeriHealtb and IBC. The 

premium payments totaled $29,135.65. SA Norman testified that as the number of patients at 

Liberation Way increased, the funding for the premium payments shifted from Hope for Families 

to a new company named LeafHealthcare Financial, LLC ( .. LEAF'). 

• LEAF 

The Grand Jury heard teStimony from Sarubbi that, at one point, most patients at Liberation 

Wfl.y obtained insurance policies funded by LEAF. Sarubbi stated that he was tasked with the 

establislunent of LE.AF6 and that it was created for the sole purpose of funding the treatment of 

p8.tients through the purchase of fraudulent insurance policies from companies such as ·me. 

Sarubbi testified that he was instructed by Gerner and Fetterman to ·refer to the payments inade by 

6 LEAF was establishCd on or about January 29, 2016. 
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LEAF a~ "scholarships .. when Liberation Way and/or L~AF paid for a policy. LEAF, on .paper. 

was made to appear as ari organization that · received donations in order to provide 

loansf'scholarships" for individuals who were not able to obtain iilSW'atlce on their OWn. LEAF 

was sp~cifically set-up so that it ap~d to have no direct connection to Liberation Way; 

Sarubbi testified that patients who received insurance policies paid by LEAF were usually 

provided coverage through me or AmeriHealth. because those companies paid the highest amount . 

in reimbuisement fees. According to Sarubbi; patients were never informed that they were being 

loaned money, nor were they informed that they had to pay any money to LEAF. Accordingly, 

the treatment for patients at Liberation Way was free-of-charge. SA Norman testified that 

Liberation Way was able to recover any money spent by.LEAF to purchase the insma:noe poJicies. 

This was possible because the amount oftl:le monthly insurance premiwns that paid for the policies 

was equal to, or 8ometimes less than, the amount that Liberation Way billed, the insurance company 

for one day of treatment. 

SA.Norman testified. that his investigation ·confinned that patients. receiving insurance 

coverage usually did not know what insurer waS providing t:Qe benefits for their treatment at · 

Liberation Way. · Liberation Way, using LEAF. set everything up for the patient including 

submi5sion of the insurance applieation and payrilent of the. policy premiums~ Sarubbi testified 

that, to his knowledge, Fetterman, Gerner and Coluccio funded LEAF through "investments." 

Sarubbi advised that he was instructed by Fetterman and Gerner to recruit someone to open 

a bank account for LEAF who had no association with Liberation Way. Sarubbi, in turn. hired his 

friend~ Brian Botcheos ("Botcheos"),to open a bank account and become the "face" of LEAF. 

Sarubbi stated that he provided Botcheos with an ~tial check to fund the. LEAF bank 

account. The Grand Jury learned that Coluccio issued a $13,200.00 check to Sarubbi from. a 
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Liberation Way bank accomtt. The words "April Consulting" were written in the memo line and 

the check was signed by Coluccio. Sarubbi explained that he was instructed by Coluccio to deposit 

the check into his (Sarubbi's) personal account and then wtite a check from his personal account 

to LEAF in the amo'unt of$13,200.00. Coluccio instructed Sarubbi to write "loan'' on the memo 

line. Sarubbi then provided this check to Botcheos to be deposited into the new account Sarubbi 

stated that although he was uncomfortable with funneling the money through his personal account, 

he did it because he was informed that he would be fired by Gerner if he did not comply. 

The Grand Jury viewed a January 21~ 2016 check issued by Coluccio to Botcheos in the . 

amount of$10,000.00. The words "p~onalloan" were written on the memo line. The Grmid 

Jury also viewed a March 21, 2016 check issued by Fetterman to Botcheos in the amomtt of. 

$12,500;00. The words "bus.iD.ess loann were written on the memo. line of this check. 

On January 29, 2016, a banka~unt was opened for LEAF and $20,000.00 was transferred 

into this new account Botcheos was listed as the sole signatory on the account. Bank records 

revealed that thechec.ks written by Coluccio and Fetterman to Botcheos were also deposited into 

the LEAF account Additionally, the $13,200.00 check written from Sarubbi's personal account . 

was deposited into the LEAF account, shortly after the account opening. 

The Orand Jury learned that between January 2016 and September 2016, deposits totaling 

$173,188.38 were made into the LEAF accotmt. The deposits consisted of cash, funds transferred 

from a Liberation House, LLC ("Liberation House .. ) accomtt, and payments from Phllly .180, LLC 

{"Phi11y 180''), Fetterman, Coluccio, and Sarubbi. .· During this time period, the same account was 

. used to pay the premiums for patients who were enrolled with AmeriHealth and me. The 

premium payments totaled $45,290.38. 
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Olin Morris (''Moms"), a former patient at Liberation Way, appeared and testified before 

the Orand Jury. He stated that he attended Liberation Way at no cost. Manis explained that he 

entered treatment in April20 16 and did not have insurance at the time. In order to obtain insurance, 

Monis was instructed to use the address of a sober home affiliated with Li~ration Way in New 

Jersey. This struck Morris as odd beCSllBe he had been a lifelong resident of Pennsylvania and did 

not understand why Liberation Way wanted him to ·use a New Jersey address. Morris further stated 

thf.lt he never paid any money toward his insurance policy. He told the Grand Jury that Botcheos 

provided him with cash so that he (Morris} could pay his insUran.ce premiums. 

Following his treatment, Morris became an employee at Liberation Way. In that capacity, 

he was aware of two patients who used his (Manis') home ~s of 619 North 34th Street in 

Philadelphia in order to obtain insurance policies. Annstrong had asked that the patients to be able 

to use Manis'. address so that they could obtain insurance coverage and begin treatment at 

Liberation Way. Morris testified that neither one of the patientS ever lived at his address. Morris 

explained that he was relucfallt to allow 1he patients to use his home addres.q, but after experiencing 

pressure, he agreed so that 1he patients could begin obtaining treatment services . 

. Another former patient at Liberation Way, Tommy Markov e'Markov") .. testified that his 

father · was provided with the contact information for Botcheos so that Markov could obtain an 

insurance policy. Mal'kov testified that after receiving Botcheos' contact infom'l8tion, an insurance 

policy through IBC was secured for him (Markov); Markov learned that Liberation Way's address 

of Afton Drive in Yardley was listed on the application as Markov's residence, Markov testified 

that, at some point, Gerner told .bim that if he (Markov) was ever asked about payments of the 

insurance premiums, he should advise that his family was making the payments. 
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Botcheos also appeared and testified before the Grand Jury. He con:fimied that he was 

approached by Sarubbi about a job opening at Liberation Way. Botcheos testified that he then met 

with Gerner, Fetterman, Sarubbi and a man named "Muhammad." The Grand Jury learned during 

the course of this investigation that Muhammad Hadi ('1Iadi") operated Legacy House, LLC 

("Legacy House"), the housing associated with Liberation Way. In this capacity, Hadi employed 

patients of Liberation Way and tasked them with performing_ maintenance-related duties .at 

properties managed by Hadi. Hadi paid the patients in cash, cigarettes and other commodities. 

During his interview with Gerner. Fetterman, Sarubbi and Hadi, Botchec>s was informed 

that he would be in charge of LEAF. a new company that Liberation Way was going to create. 

Botcheos explained to the Grand Jury that the "marketers'' at Liberation Way would send him the 

contact infoimation for potential patients and/or their family members. When asked what would 

happen if a potential patient did not have insurance, Botcheos advised that he would inform the 

potential patient that he could obtain insurance· for them through the "Matketplace~7 and that 

LEAF would pay for the policy premiums so that the individual could start treatment 

Botcheos Stated that he also. informed poteti.tial patients that they needed a Pennsylvania 

address in order to -obtmn coverage through a Pennsylvania-based insurance company. To that 

end, he would provide patients with the address of One of the multiple housing locations affiliated 

with Liberation Way. Botcheos stated that he randomly selected one of these housing locations 

unless Sarubbi or Armstrong instructed him to use · a specific location for a patient Once the 

patient had a housing address, Botcheos p'urchased a pre·paid credit card frOm a CVS or other 

stores with money from the LEAF bank account He then registered the cJ"edit eard in the name of 

7 Cottrell testified that one way to obtain a policy with me · would be through accessi.Dg the 
Affol'dable Care Act Marketplace at W\VW·healthcare:t{ov. 
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the patient and used the credit card to pay for the insurance policy. Botcheos explained that in 

addition to the checks from Fetterman arid Sarubbi, the LEAF bank account was funded by cheeks 

that were given to him from Hadi and Coluccio; Botcheos furth~ stated that ElSie Concepcion 

("Concepcion"),8 another Liberation Way employee, helped him purchas~ the pre~paid credit 

cards. She also aided him by calling insurance companies in order to make the premiQin payments 

for the policies. 

Botcheos testified that, randomly, one day, Gerner and Annsti·ong told him that they were 

shutting down LEAF. Sarubbi stated that after me began its audit of Liberation Way, Botcheos 

was instructed by Gerner to destroy all the records relating to LEAF. 

The Orand ;Jury was informed that there were seven bank accounts associated with LegSC?y 

House (D/B/A Liberation House) and that Hac1i was the authorized signatory on these accounts. 

Legacy House and Liberation House, initially eStablished on November 23, 2015, were used 

interchangeably, and· money was consistently transferred between the bank accounts for the two 

entities. · B~en No:vember 2014 and January 2018, funds from one of these Liberation House 

bailk accounts were used to make $264,872.48 . in payments to me, United Healthcare and A. 

McGlawn Insurance. · An additional $28,931.29 was paid to AFCO, a system that is utilized to 

generate quotes for insurance policies. The Grand Jury learned that during that time period, the 

same Liberation House account, under the control of Hadi,. received $8,646,295.00 in payments 

from Liberation Way. Another one of the seven accounts associated with Liberation House 

received $465,170.00 from Liberation Way. 

For his part, Had.i also established a bank account on September 9, 2015 for Prestige 

Worldwide, LLC ("Prestige Worldwide") and was the authorized signatory on this ac.count. 
. . 

8 Concepcion was known as Elsie Hernandez during her employment with Liberation Way. 
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Between September 2015 and January 2018,.$574,146.08 waS deposited into this W.count from 

Gemer as well as Phi1ly 180, Legacy House and Hope for FamilieS. An additional $20,119 .QO was 

deposited into the account from Liberation Way. 

The Grand Jury was informed that between December 2014 and January 2018, Liberation 

Way accmmts received over $42 million in payments from different health care companies in 

connection with the claims that were submitted by Liberation Way. After reviewing the records, 

it was determined that roughly 95% of the deposits consisted of direct pa~ents {rom insurance 

companies including Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield, AmeriHealth, Cigna, IBC, Integrity Heal~ 

United Healthcare, and Team Care. During this same time period, numerous healthcare companies 

were paid over $419,000.00 from Liberation Way accounts in connection with insurance plan 

premiums. These same accounts were also used to make over $98,000.00 in payments to Coastal 

Laboratory ("Coastal"), Orange Grove Labs (•'Orange Grove''), Quality Toxicology ("Quality'') 

and Deep Blue Toxicology ( .. Deep Blue,'). Additionally, more than $8 inillion was deposited into 

the accounts of Legacy House ·from Liberation Way. The Grand Jury learned that Gemer, 

Coluccio, and Fetterinan were the authorizedsignatories·on the Liberation Way accounts. 

The Grand Jury heard testimony that on November 21, 2016, Cottrell and menibers of me 

interviewed Gerner. During this interview, Gerner adtnitted that" Liberation Way enrolled 89 

clients into ''relocation policies', with either IBC or AmeriHealth. Gerner advised that this was a 

"mistaken and should not have occurred. Gerner stated that Liberation Way wanted to "right their 

wrongs" and wtite a check to IBC as re-payment for the 89 policies. After lBC intervie~ed Gerner, 

Liberation Way produced a document detailing 70 patient applications that conta.i.ned fraudulent 

home addresses. During its review, IBC subsequently discovered that the total of fraudulently 
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obtained policies was·I07 insurance.policies.9 Cottrell testified that ffiC paid Liberation Way 

nearly $7 million for indivi~uals who improperly obtained a ''relocation, policy. . 

• HOUSING ADDRESSES 

SA Norman testified that the addresses commonly listed on the applications for insurance 

were the residential locations affiliated with Liberation Way. The Grand Jury learned that these 

residential locations were operating as sober homes but were not licensed through the Department 

of State or the DDAP. HI SA Norman further testified that one loeation-- 1146 Stump Road in 

North Wales, Montgomery County - - was initially owned by Dr. Braccia: This address was 

included on more than 10 insurance applications; During his testimony, Markov stated that he 

never had the option of choosing where he could live and was initially placed at the North W8J.es 

residence. He testified that there was minimal supervision at the·house and that patients referre4 

tO it as the "party house." Markov asked to be moved to another housing location because he was 

actively trying to get better and did not want to be tempted to relapse. In response to his request, . . 

Markov was placed at another housing location in Hatfield that was run by Liberation Way. 

Following his treatment, Markov became an employee ofLiberation Way and was working 

there when an ffiC investigator appeared and ask to speak with him. Markov later met with Gerner 

who instructed Markov to lie to the me investigator. Markov was told to inform the inveStigator 
. I 

that he (Markov) found his own living arrangements and that the locations where he stayed while 

attending 1reatnient at Liberation Way were not connected to Liberation Way. Markov reiterated 

9 The 107 policies included the 70 policies that Liberation Way admitted Were fraudulently 
obtained. 

1° For housing to be included in the treatment program, Li}?eration Way would have had to become 
a licensed inpatient treatment facility. There are DDAP regulations that must be followed by 
inpatient treatment centers in order to ensure that the housing is safe and meets the needs of those 
residing there and attending treatment. 
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to the Grand Jury that the housing was, in fact, connected to Liberation Way. He added that he 

had never before known of a sober house where .everyone living in the house attended the same 

treatment facility. 

Dming his testimony; Dr. Braccia informed the Grand Jury that he was paid $8,000.00 per 

month by Liberation Way to rent his ·North Wales house for the use of Liberation Way patients. 

He stated that Gerner, Fetterman and Coluceio liked the house so much that Liberation Way 

purchased it for $800,000.00 on September 16.2016. Dr. Bracciainitiallytestified thathe sold the 

house directly to Liberation Way; however, he then corrected: himself and stated that he sold it to 

another entity. The GJ:and Juzy learned that the house was actuilly purchased by 1146 Stump 

Road, LLC ("Stump Road") and reviewe4 a Check that was issued to Stump Road. This check 

was issued from a Uberation Way bank account and sigiled by Coluccio. The check served as 

reimbursement for the purchase of the property. · 

SA Neiman informed the Grand Jury thai housing was controlled by Hadi under the entity 

Legacy House. Hadi invested money in Libenrtion Way and worked hand-in-hand with Gerner 

and Annstrong. Even though ·Liberation Way . claimed. that it bad no association with Legacy 

House, all housing issue8 were to be reported directly to the clinicians at Liberation Way. Once 

an issue was reported. it was expected that corrective action would be taken. or recommended by, 

·the patient's counselor. Given that there was no real separation of Liberation Way from its housing 

facilities. SA Noonan e;piained that Liberation Way was actually operating as an inpatient facility 

and lacked the proper levels of oversight required of such facilities. Additionally, SA Norman 

stated 1hat employees working at the housing locations believed that they were employees of 

Liberation Way. 
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Wake testi:fied that when the DDAP received complaints regarding Liberation · Way's 

Yardley facility, it appeared that clients thought that their recovery houses (sober homes) were a 

part of the licensed treatment activities since there was no cleal' distinction between tbe treatment 

and housing. During on-site' visits, clients informed Wake that they thought it was a requirement 

to live in the housing ~Hated with Liberation Way. Moms, as .well as William Milligan 

("Milligan'~) and John Haskopolus ( .. Haskopolus'") all testified that they stayed at sober houses 

affiliated with Liberation Way and did not have a choice as to where they could live while 

attending treatment at Liberation Way. CottreU testified that, on one occasion, he confronted 

Coluccio about whether the housing was affiliated with Liberation Way. Despite the information 

about the ties to. Liberation Way, Coluccio insisted that the housing · was a completely separate 

entity ftom Liberation Way. 

The Grand ~ury learned that, on a daily basis~ Shuttles ran from the housing locations ·to 

Libet:ation Way's treatment locations. Since transportation was provided, the patientc; at Liberation 

.Way had to adhere to the schedules of the drivers.· Patients were. not free to leave and had to wai~ 

until the transport vans retUrned them to their housing. This was yet another example of how 

Liberation Way cohttoU~ their patients. 

The Grand Jury heard testimony from preVious employees and patientS of Liberation Way 

that some of the housing was co-ed, which is uncommon in the drug and alcohol treatment industry. 

Moreover, it was revealed that Liberation Way housing staff and employees were having sexual 

relationships with .patients who were actively receiving tl'eatment Furthermore, the Grand Jury 

learned that some of the housing was located in areas that were known for nefarious activity. 

Fonner employees testified that these housing loeations facilitated patient relapses. Alex ott, a 

former clinician at UberatiQn Way. testified that it would be more appropriate to transfer these 
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patients to another facility in order to provide the care that was needed. The Grand Jury learned· 

that a patient who relapsed would receive u;eatment at Liberation Way at a higher level of 6are. 

This, in tum, resulted in a higher rate ofreimbursement from the insurance companies. Gerner and 

Annstrong continued to allow clients to re-enter treatment ~t Liberation Way after multiple 

relapses. 

The Grand Jwy. also heard testimony that Liberation Way cycled patien'UI tbrougQ. the 

treatment procesft as many times as possible. SA Norman stated that his investigation revealed 

that some patients were cycled through treatment at Liberation Way upto eight times. However, 

the ~ount offune a patient could cycle through treatment was often dictated by their: insurance 

policy. Once a patient's hene.fits were exhausted, Liberation Way transfened the patient to another 

treatment center. These centers had agreements with Liberation Way for an immedi~ exchange 

of a new patient or for an exchange of a patient in the future. 

• URINE TESTS AND FLORIDA LABORATORIES 

On July 30, 2015, just after Liberation Way opened its Yardley facility, Dana Fetterman, 

the brOther of Fetterman, opened a PNC Bank account for Philly 180. SA Nonn.an testified fuat 

he discovered that a "consulting contract" had been entered into by Dana Fetterman and Liberation 

Way effective March l, 2016. The contract stated that Dana Fetterman had a background in the 

addiction industry. This was not true. This contract. on its face, · made it appear that Liberation 

Way and Dana Fettennan were engaged in a legal business relationship and 'that any money 

exchanged between the two would be for legitimate business pUrposes. 

SA Norman testified that he spoke with Detecti:ve Mal'k Berey ("Detective Berey'') of the 

Palm Beach County Sober Homes Task Force in Florida . who shared information about an 

investigation into Jesse Peters ("PeterS'~. According to Detective Berey, Peters was associated 
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With numerous laboratory facilities located in Florida-which entered into illegal agreements with 

treatment facilities. Peters agreed to pay the owners of the tr~tment facilities illegal .. kickbacks" 

in exchange for submitting requests for laboratory testing (mainly urine tests) to his laboratory 

facilities. 

During his investigation, Detective Berey discovered that significant amounts ~f money 

wete being sent from Peters' laboratory compariies to Philly 180. These companies included 

Coastal, Deep Blue, Orange Grove, Axiom and Anchor Diagnostics. Detective Berey provided SA 

Norman with a spreadsheet detailing the percentages of money that were paid by the companies to 

other entities. The Grand Jurors viewed this spreadsheet and learned that 40% of the insUrance 

payments that the companies received in connection with the Liberation Way patients would be 

sent back: to Gerner and Fettennan as a .. kickback.'' SA Norman explained that a check would be· 

issued by the company to Philly 180. Once the money~ received by Philly 180, Dana Fetterman 

would distribute the money from Philly 180 to Gerner and Fetterman. The spreadsheet illustrated 

that between the months of January 2016 and July2016, Philly 180 received $657,083.92 in 

"kickbacks" from Peters and his companies. 

The Grand Jury learned that the companies eventually discontinued sending checks to 

. Phllly 180 in July 20 1'6 and began to send equal monthly amounts to Hot Wheels and AlbaJi, LLC 

("Alban"). 11 From August 2016 to November 2016, these two companies each received 

$334,346.42 in "kickbacks" from Peters and his companies. This arrangement allowed Fetter.ma.il 

.and Gerner to continue to receive their "kickbacks," but removed Dana Fettennan and Philly 180 

from the process. 

11 Hot Wheels wa,s controlled by Fette11nan and Alban was controlled by Gerner. Alban was 
established on September 30,2016. 
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SA Norman testified that me was billed in excess of $33 million for urine testing. me 

paid more than $4 million for this testing. 

• URINE TESTS AND DR. BRACCIA 

As noted above, Dr. Braccia was listed a8 the Medical Director of Liberation Way in .its 

application to the DDAP. Wake testified that when she conducted an onsite Visit at Liberation 

Wayt she was shocked by the number of urine tests that \Wre being ordered. She noticed that for 

some patients, a urine speeimen was collected every day. Wake also found it suspicious that 

Liberation Way was sending all of its urine specimens to laboratory facilities in Florida for testing. 
. . 

Vari~us patients-turned-employees~ including Markov, Morris, Haskopolous and Scott·Collins 

("Collins''), testified that they were required to provide multiple urine· samples each week. 

Additionally, Milligan testified that he had to subinit as many as three--to-four urine samples per 

day. 

When some of these individuals became employed by Liberation Way, they were 

responsible for collecting multiple urine samples each week .. Upon collecting the samples, they 

would request tbJit the patients sign what they presumed to be a consent . fonn; however, these 

employees testified that no ·one ever ·read the form. Markov told the Grand Jury that a counselor .at 

Liberation Way told him that Gemer would offer s1affincentives/bonuses of$100.00 or $200.00 

pet week for requesting that a certain number ·Of: urine samples be ordei'ed., During their tenure, 

Markov and Haskopolous stated that th~ testing was performed at four or five different laboratory 

facilities in Florida, but the contact person remained the same. 

SA Noonan test:ip.ed that he conducted an interview with C'.-ollins wherein Collins stated 

that Gerner was aware that the insurance company would cover nine urine tests per month, per 

patient. Gerner tasked Collins with ensuring that nine urine specimens were collected from each 
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patient SA Norman stated that Collins informed him that he would receivea bonus of$500.00 per 

month from Gerner's personal checking account for collecting nine specimens for each patient 

attending treatment at Liberation Way. The Grand Jurors viewed a $500.00 ch~k that was written 

to Collins and signed by Gerner. On the memo line, the word "consulting" was written. Collins 

told SA Norman that he knew the bonuses were for the collection of urine samples because the 

word "consultingn was written on the check. ·Collins provided SA Norman with blank laboratory 

forins that were pre-signed by Dr. Braccia. Dr. Bra.Ccia's signature indicated that each test was 

medicallyneC:essary. 

The Grand Jury learned that full panel te~s were performed on every urine speci:tnen 

CQJlected at Liberation Way~ This type of testing was the most expensive and thus the most 

lucrative in terms of.billin:g the insurance companies. By ordering the most expensive test, 

laboratories· were able to maximize their profits which, in tum, increased the amount of 

"kickbacks'' sent to Gerner and Fetterman. 

The Grand Jury learned through the testimony of Dr. Braccia and other witnesses that wine 

tests were ordered without Dr. Braccia perfonning any evaluation of the patients. The Liberation 

Way employees. had access to blank fori:ns, which were pre~signed by Dr. Braccia.. When 

instruct;ed to obtain a urine specimen from a patient, the employees would complete the pre-signed 

fonn with the patients' information and send the specimen to whichever Florida-based laboratory 

Liberation Way was using at that time. Fonner patients and employees testified that the results of 

the patients' urine tests were not discussed with them. 

Dmmg this investigatio~ SAN01man discovered thatpatients and/or the patients' families 

were receiving large invoices from the Florida laboratories wherein the laboratories sought. 

payments for amounts that were not paid for by the insurance companies. SA Norman testified 
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tbatin some instances the bills were between $80,000:00 and $100,000.00. One particulal' family 

was fo1Warded a promissory note, stating that they would be responsible for anything that the 

insurance company would not cover. When the family wa8 hesitant to sign the document, 

Armstrong flied to force the family into signing the document by threatening that their son would 

not receive any treatment with Liberation Way unless they signed it. Tiffany Brooks ("Brooks,'), 

an employee responsible for billing at Liberation Way, stated that she began receiving inquiries 

from patients who had received significant bills from companies in Florida in connection with the 

urine testing. When asked about the billing statements that s.ome clients were receiving, Gerner 

inf01med Brooks that the bills were generated fu. error and that the clients were not supposed to be 

bUied. Further, Brooks testified that Gerner told her to inform the patients to call the Iaborato1ies 

directly if there were any further issues. 

• . FRAUDULENT B~LINGS AND INSURANCE CLAIMS 

The Grand Jury learned that in addition to Dr. B~cia, Qi)ls to the insurance companies 

were submitted under the names of tw-o other phySicians: Ramesh Sarvaiya, M.D. ("Dr. Sarvaiya") 

and Joseph Savon, MD. ("Dr. Savon,). 

Dr. Sarvaiya is a physician licensed to practice medicine in Pennsylvania and New Jersey. 

SA Norman testified that Dr. Sarvaiya was interviewed by Speeial Agent Matysol Mateo fi·om the 

Office of Personnel Management. Office of Inspector . General ("OPMOIO") regarding an · 

investigation ~ conducted by the OPMOIG. During this interview, Dr. San1aiya stated that he 

worked for Liberation Way for-approximately e~ght months during the· initial startup period m 

2015 and that he was paid $500.00 per month. Dr. Sarviaya further advised that he initially met 

with Gerner and was informed that he (Dr. Sarvaiya) wouJd not have to do anything except sign 

paperwork as needed. Dr. Sarvaiya stated that he did not know where Liberation Way was located, 
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never visited the facility, and, never met nor evaluated any patients. Dr. Sarviaya acknowledged 

that he received laboratory requests through either electronic mail ("e-mail'j or facsimile and, 

upon receipt, he would just sign-off on the request. He would then send the signed documentation 

back to a Liberation Way employee via e-mail. From July 2015 through October 2015, Florida­

baSed laboratory companies billed IBC over $14 million for urine t~ng, based upon Dr. 

Sarvaiya's representation that the testing was a medical necessity for Liberation Way patients. 

· Liberation Way also Submitted bills :for tre81m.ent under the name of Dr. Savon from 

July/August 2015 to June 2016. Dr. Savon is. a physician licensed to practice medicine in 

Pennsylvania. The Gt'aD.d Jury learned that IBC discovered nearly $5 mnlion in claims that were 

submitted by Liberation Way under Dr. Savon's ·National Provider Identifier ("NPr') number. 

Cotttell testified that in September 2016, he confronted Gerner about the bills submitted by Dr. 

Savon. Gerner initially explained that Dr. Savon was the Medical Director of Liberation Way 

during the time of the billings~ ~ a follow-up interview with Coluccio, Coluccio advised that the 

bills were generated in error. Liberation · Way fudicated thai it would reimburse me for the 

amounts that were billed in ettor l.DI.det Dr. Savon's NPI number. According to Cot1rell, no such 

reimbursement was ever made. 

COtttell testified that he met with Dr. Savon and questioned him about his role in Liberation 

Way and the $5 million in clainis that were submitted Un.der his NPI number. Dr. Savon advised 

that although he had been an initial investor in Liberation Way, he never served ~ the Medical 

Director. Dr. Savon stated that he had only been to Liberation Way on two occasions and, dUring 

those visits, he never .saw any patients. He further stated that although he was initiaUy given the 

impression that he would be hired. as Medical Director, Liberation Way selected another physician 

for thai position. He denied ever giving permission to anyone at Liberation Way to use 
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his NPI number on the billings. Accordingly. neady $5 million m claims never s~ould have been 

submitted to me. 

Brooks testified that while reviewing patient charts, she discovered notes that appem-ed to 

have been copied ~d pasted. Brooks explained that this wa.s problematic and that she addressed 

the issue with Gerner. Brooks also stated that in 20)6, she was told to bill for full-day sessions on 

holidays, such ·as Thanksgiving -and Christmas, and that She was instructed on how to bill for 

holidays by Gerner. Brooks testified that she also disoovered that clients left at 1:00 p.m. for the 

day with an outside "homework assignment." She believed that Gerner attempted to use the 

"homework assignment" as a means to bill for a full-day session, even though· the "homework 

assignment'' \.voulrl not include a billable Sel'vice. 

Brooks testified that she overheard Concepcion caB insUrance companies and pretend to 

be a patient Brooks stated that Concepcion told her directly that Gerner instructed ·her to· call the 

insurance ·companies pretending to be -~e· patient and to have checks re-issued and/or rerouted to 

Liberation Way. The Grand Jury learned that. while Concepcion would call the insurance 

companies and impersonate female patientS, Collins would call the insurance companies and 

impersonate male patients. 

SA Norman testified that Stephen Thomas, M.D. -e'Dr. Thomas'.'), an expert in drug 

addiction ,and pain management, reviewed some of the records and claim notes pertaining to 

patients who attended Liberation Way. He also reviewed the treatments that were billed to IBC. . . 

A copy of his report was shown to the Grand Jury. Dr. Thomas' report noted thatfederal guidelines 

specify that, while in treatment, drug screenings should be obtained at the outset of treatment and 

at least eight times yearly or once every six weeks. 
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In his review of the various patient records, Dr. Thomas observed that there was an absence 

of a history and physical examination which would normally be completed. at the time of 

admission. He further noted that many of the urine screenings reflected in the patient files were 

medically unnecessary. Dr. Thomas's report stated that the .results of the screening should have 

been added into 1he patient's profile within their records in order. to further tailor the patient's 

treatm.ent plan. Dr. Thomas found that there was no evidence of any physici8n input in the otll~ring 

and intmpretation of the urine tests. Moreover, there was no evidence that the test results were 

used to modify the treatment being received by the patient. Accordingly, the use of these tests by 

Liberation Way served no medically~legitimate purpose. SA Norman read the following 

conclusion .contained in Dr. Thomas' report: 

The medical records reViewed in this case show a clear pattern of 
lacking basic required elemen:ts .. ()f medical evaluation. such as 
history and physical examinations~ standard blood work, discharge 
summaries or queries of the Prescription Drug Monitoring Program. 
At :the same time t4ere has been a great overutilization of mine drug 

screens for non-medical ·purposes. The number, type and 
combination. of drug screens appear to have been chosen for reasons 
1hat have nothing to do with appropriate monitoring of the treatment 
courses of th~ patients. 

Furthermore, the use of the diStalit laboratories makes reporting ·of 
some of the results questionable solely based upon theTapidity with 
which they were allegedly reported. Many other tests were ordered 
prior to the previous test being reported. 

The business relationship betWeen the entities was documented a.'l· 

problematic. The use of breathalyze.t'S for monitoring ethanol use 
was of no cliniCal value whatsoever. The non-addiction . related 
laboratories served no purpose for patient care. 

The opinions stated in this report are stated within a reasonable 
degree of medical certainty . . My conclusions are based upon 
information I have reviewed to . date. In the event additional 
information is made available to xne, I 1·eserve the right to extend, 
amend, and/or clarify my opinions and conclusions based upon 
review of that additional information. 

25 

I 
I 

f 
l 
j 

I 
j 
l 
l 
I 
I 

I 
I 



• SALE OF LIBERATION WAY 

In December 2017, Liberation Way sold a 79% portion of the business to a private equity 

firm for $41.6 million. The proceeds from the sale were divided among the Liberation Way owners 

and investors including Gerner, Coluccio, Armstrong, Dr. Braccia, Hadi and the Estate of 

Fetterman. 
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RECOMMENDATIONOF CHARGES 

Based upon the evidence that :we have obtained and considered, which establishes a prima 

facie case, we, the members of the Forty-First Statewide Investigating Grand Jury recommend that 

the Attorney Oenenl . or his designee institute criminal proceedings against the following 

individuals and corporations and charge them with the listed offenses: 

JASON GERNER 

Corrupt Organizations,l8Pa.C.S. § 911 (b)(3)(4) 

Dealing'in PrOceeds ofUnla:wfulActivities, lS Pa.C.S. § 5111 (a)(1),(2) 

Insurance Fmud, 18Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a}(2)(31(5)and (6) 

'Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (bX4) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a)(l) 

Unsworn Falsification, l8 Pa.C.S. § 4904{aXl) 

Criminal Conspiracy, I 8 Pa.C.S. § 903(aX1) to commit Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawfuJ Activities, 
Theft ·by Deception 

BRANDEN COLUCCIO 

Corrupt Organizations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 911 (b)(3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities. 18 Pa.C.S. § 511 J (a.)(l),(2) 

Insurance·Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 41.17 (aX2)(3),(5) and (6) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a)(1) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(aXl) to pommitDeaJing in Proceeds ofUnlawfulActivities, 
Theft by Deception · · 

MICHAEL ARMSTRONG 

Corrupt Organizations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 911 (b)(3),(4} 

Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S. § 5111 (a)(l),(2) 

Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.O.S. · § 4117 (a)(2)(3),(5) and (6) 

Insurance Fraud, J 8 Pa.C.S. § 411 7 (b)( 4) 
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Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a){l) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to commit Dealing in Proceed$ ofUn]awfulActivities, 
Theft by Deeeption 

JESSE .PETERS 

Corrupt Organi7.ations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 9ll (b)(3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds ofUnJawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S. § 5111 (a)(l},(2) 

Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a)(2)(J),(S) and (6) 

Theft by DeCeption, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a)(l) · 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to commit Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities, 
Theft by Deception · 

DOMINICK BRACCJA, M.D. 

Corrupt Organizations, 18Pa.C.S. § 911 (b){3},(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S. § 5111 (a)(l),(2) 

Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a)(2)(3),(5) and (6) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.c.s. § 3922(a)(l) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S; § 903( a)( 1) to commit Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities, 
Theft by Deception 

RAMESB SA.RVAIYA, M~D. 

Cortupt Organizations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 911 {b )(3),(~) 

Dealing iii Proceeds of Unlawful Activities, 18 .Pa.C.S. § 5111 (a)(1),(2} 

Insurance Fmud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a)(2X3),(5)and (6) 

Theft byDeception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a)(l) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l)tocominitDeaUng in Proceeds ofUnlawfulActivities, 
Theft by Deception 

MUHAMMAD HADI 

Corrupt Organizations, 18.Pa.C.S. § 911 (b)(3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S.§ 5111 (a)(l),(2) 
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Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (aX2}(3),(S) and (6) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a)(l) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to commit Dealing in Proceed:!! ofUnlawful Activities, 
Theft by Deception 

SCOTT COLLINS 

.Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a)(2) 

Identity Theft, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4120{a) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to commit Insurnnce Fraud and Identity Theft 

MICHAEL SARUBBI 

l"rlsurance Fraud, 18 PaC.S. § 4117 (a)(2) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922{a)(l) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to commit Insurance Fraud and Theft by Deception 

·DANA FETTERMAN 

Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawfufActivities, 18 Pa. C.S. '§ 5111 (a)(1),(2) 

Criminal Co:JISpiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to commit Dealing in Proceeds ofThllawful Activities 

ELSIE CONCEPCION 

Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117(a)(2) 

Identity Theft, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4120(a) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to commit Insurance Fraud and Identity Theft 

LffiERATION WAY, LLC 

Corrupt Organizations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 911 (b)(3),(4) 

Dealing. in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities, 18 Pa,C.S.§ 5111 (a)(1),(2) 

Insurance Fmud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a)(2)(3),(5) and (6) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a)(l) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(aXJ) to commjt Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities 
and Theft by Deception 
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LBH HOLDINGS, LLC 

CotruptOrganizations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 911 (b)(3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S.§ 5111 (a)(l ),(2) 

Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa;_C.S. § 4117 (a)(2)(3),(5) and (6) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a)(l) .· 

Ctiminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to cori:unit Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities 
. and Theft by Deception 

LIDERATION BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, LLC 

Corrupt Organizations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 911 {b)(3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C~S.§ 5111 (a)(l),(2) 

Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 41 l 7 (a)(2)(3),(5) and {6) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a)(l) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. §. 903(a)(l) to commit Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities 
and Theft by Deception 

LIBERATION HOUSE, LLC 

Conupt Org8nizations,18 Pa;C.S. § 911 (~)(3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S.§ 5111 (a)(l),(2) 

Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a)(2)(3),(5) and(6) 

Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa:c.s. § 4117 (b)(4) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(a)(l) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(t) to commit Dealjng in Proceeds.ofUnJawful Activities 
and Theft by Deception 

LEAF HEALmCARE FINANCIAL, LLC 

Corrupt Organizations. 18 Pa.C$. § 911 (bX3)1(4) 

Dealing inPt'Oceeds ofUnlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S.§ 5111 (a)(l),(2) 

Insurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a)(2)(3)t(5) and (6) 
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Ins~rance Fraud, 18Pa;C.S. § 4117 (b)(4) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(aXI) 

Cl'iininal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to commit Dealing in Proceeds of UnlaWful Activitie..c; 
and Theft by Deception · 

PHILLY 180, LLC 

Cotrupt Organizations, I 8 Pa.c.s. §. 911 (b)(3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S.§ 5111 (a)(l).(2) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(aXl) to commit Dea1iog in Procee~s of Unlawful Activities 

ALBAN,LLC 

Cort!lpt Organizations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 91 I (bX3);(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S.§ 5111 (a)(l),(2) 

Criminal Conspiracy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a)(l) to commit Dealing in ProceedS of Unlawful Activities 

LEGACY HOUSE, LLC 

Corrupt Organizations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 911 (b)(3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities, 18 Pa.C.S.§ 5111 (aXI),(2) 

Insurance Ftaud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a)(2){3),(5) and (6) 

lnsu~ce Fraud.l8 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (b)(4) 

Theft: by Deception. 18 PLC.S. § 3922(a)(l) 

Criminal Conspira~y. 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(a){'l) to commit Dealing' in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities 
and Theft by Deception 

PRESTIGE WORLDWIDE, LLC 

Corrupt Organizations, 18 Pa.C.S. § 911 (b)(3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities, 18 Pa,C.S.§. 5111 (aXI).(2) 

~~:iminal Conspiracy, I 8 Pa.C.S. § 903( a)(l) to commit Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities 
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HOPE FOR FAMILIES, LLC 

Corrupt Organizations, 18Pa.C.S. § 9Il {bX3),(4) 

Dealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities, 18 Pap.s.§ 5111 (a){I),(2) 

Insurance Fraud,l8 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (a)(2X3),(S) and (6) 

InSurance Fraud, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4117 (bX4) 

Theft by Deception, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3922(aXl) 

Criminal Conspiracy. 18 Pa.C.S. § 903(aX 1) to conmlitDealing in Proceeds ofUnlawful Activities 
and.Theft by Deception 
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COMMONWEALTHOF.PENNSYLVANIA 
DEPARTMENT OF STATE 

BEFORETHE STATE BOARD OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 
Bureau of Professional and 
Occupational Affairs 

vs. 

Domenick Braccia, D.O., 
Respondent 

I 

I I CaseNo. 

I 
CERTIFICATE OF SERYICE 

. wil ~ 
I, Keith E. Bashore, hereby certify that 1 have this · t day of 

17-53-05422 

Aer~] 
" '2019, 

caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing Petition and Order of Immediate Temporary 

Suspension to be served upon all parties of record in this proceeding in accordance with the 

requirements of§ 33.31 ofthe General Rules of Administrative Practice and Procedure, 1 Pa. 

Code § 33.31 (relating to service by the agency). 

PERSONAL SERVICE AND CERTIFIED MAIL, ELECTRONIC RETURN RECEIPT: 

Domenick Braccia, D.O. 
1630 White Oak Road 
Perkasie, P A 18944 

P. 0. Box 69521 
Harrisburg, PA 17106-9521 
(717) 783-7200 

9171 9690 0935 0197 7059 21 

Prosecuting Attorney 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
Department of State 




